Case 2019AP001578 **Brief of Appellant**

Filed 11-22-2019 Page 1 of 44

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

11-22-2019

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Dane County Case No. 16-CF-1268 Appeal No. 2019AP1578-CR

NATHAN J. FRIAR,

v.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING MOTIONS FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSANN M. REYNOLDS AND THE HONORABLE SUSAN M. CRAWFORD, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLE DANIEL RUBY Attorney at Law State Bar #1064819

JEREMIAH W. MEYER-O'DAY Attorney at Law State Bar #1091114

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion when it permitted the State to (1) bolster the testimony of the alleged victim through hearsay testimony of three other witnesses; (2) present graphic and overly prejudicial photographs of the complainant's vagina; and (3) present "demeanor" evidence designed to elicit sympathy?

The trial court found the evidence admissible over the defendant's objections. The postconviction court concluded that the trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in admitting the evidence.

2. Was Friar's trial attorney ineffective for (1) failing

to object to the admission of the SANE nurse's testimony relating the complaining witness's hearsay statements describing the sexual assault, where at least some of those statements were not made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment; (2) failing to impeach the complaining witness with her prior statements denying any memory of sexual contact with Friar, and (3) failing to present expert testimony regarding the interaction of alcohol consumption and Type 1 diabetes, to impeach the complainant's ability to accurately perceive and recall events?

The postconviction court ruled that the trial attorney did not perform ineffectively.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant does not request oral argument, but is willing to provide oral argument if the court deems it helpful in addressing the merits of the appellant's claims.

The appellant requests publication. Two of the issues appear to lack published caselaw addressing the specific circumstances.

First, this case raises a question of whether it is reasonable for an attorney to maintain a strategy rendered invalid by the changing circumstances of trial. Prior to trial, attorney Brophy decided not to present evidence that MBK told her roommates that she had no recollection of any sexual activity—even though this completely contradicted MBK's testimony of remembering a violent sexual assault—because he wished to avoid opening the door to other damaging statements MBK had made to the roommates. However, at trial, the court admitted all of those damaging statements over attorney Brophy's hearsay objection as prior consistent statements. Despite these changing circumstances which invalidated his fear of opening the door, attorney Brophy failed to change his strategy and present the highly impeaching statements. The postconviction court found Brophy's pre-trial strategy was objectively reasonable, but completely failed to Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 8 of 44

address whether the changing circumstances of trial rendered that strategy obsolete and unreasonable. The defense could locate no published authority addressing this issue.

Second, this case raises a question regarding the admissibility of "demeanor" evidence for a sexual assault complainant, outside the context of expert testimony and Jensen evidence. See State v. Jensen, 147 Wis.2d 240, 432 N.W.2d 913 (1988). The trial court allowed the State to present evidence from the complainant and her parents about her demeanor, primarily sadness and crying, when discussing what happened with them afterward. The defense argued this was improper and inadmissible under 904.01 and 904.03 as it was designed to play on juror sympathy and had little to no probative value. The parties located no published cases on the issue, and the court admitted the testimony in reliance upon an unpublished decision silently extending Jensen's principles. The defense believes that ruling was improper, and this court should issue a published decision finding such evidence inadmissible.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Trial

1. Testimony Of MBK

Nathan Friar was charged with second degree sexual assault using force and strangulation of MBK for events that occurred in his Madison apartment in the early morning hours of 6/5/16 (R2:1-3). MBK testified that two days earlier, she met Friar at an after-party, where they flirted and exchanged contact information (R142:68-69). They exchanged "casual" text messages over the next two days (R142:70).

On 6/4/16, MBK worked until 11:30 pm, and exchanged messages with Friar about meeting (R142:70-71). After work, MBK went home briefly before meeting friends at the Vintage Bar (R142:71). MBK acknowledged consuming alcohol and having Type 1 diabetes, but insisted that neither her memory nor her judgment were impaired (R142:72-74). After leaving the Vintage, MBK went to the Red Rock Saloon and consumed more alcohol (R142:74-75). However, MBK

Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 9 of 44

again insisted neither alcohol nor diabetes affected her "in any way" (R142:75-76).

MBK exchanged more text messages with Friar arranging to meet at the Red Rock (R142:76-81). When Friar arrived, they talked, flirted, danced, and possibly kissed (R142:82-83). Video footage showed them dancing and consuming alcoholic beverages before leaving the Red Rock together (R142:84-90).

When walking past Friar's apartment, Friar asked MBK if she wanted to come up because his roommates were having an after-party (R142:90). In preparation for trial, MBK reviewed a surveillance video of herself and Friar standing outside the Equinox (R142:92-93). MBK acknowledged they were flirting and kissing, having casual conversation (R142:91-92,105). Although she agreed to go up, MBK denied having discussed sex, and claimed she only wanted to "make out" (R142:91-92,108).

Video from inside the elevator showed them laughing, but MBK didn't recall why (R142:109). MBK testified they got off on the wrong floor (9th) initially, but she hadn't realized it (R142:109-10). When they arrived at the correct floor (12th), video showed them holding hands as Friar led MBK into the apartment (R142:110). MBK testified she discovered there was no after-bar inside, just two guys watching TV (R142:110-11). According to MBK, once inside, Friar had a "firm grip" on her hand and led her into his bedroom (R142:111).

MBK claimed Friar became aggressive as soon as he closed the door, kissing her forcefully (R142:112-14). MBK testified she "fell" on the bed because Friar pushed her back (R142:114-16). According to MBK, the "[n]ext thing I remember is he was on top of me and was taking my clothes off" (R142:116). MBK testified she told Friar to stop or "Be gentle" (R142:116-17).

MBK testified Friar then put his hands on her throat 3-4 times, causing her to gasp for air (R142:121-23). MBK claimed that while squeezing her neck, Friar put his other hand "forcefully" into her vagina without her consent, touching both her internal and external genitalia (R142:123-24). MBK

Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 10 of 44

claimed she blacked out while Friar had one hand on her throat and the other touching her genitals (R142:124).

MBK recalled regaining consciousness and finding Friar passed out on top of her, so she located her clothes and insulin pump left Friar's room (R142:125-26). On the way out, MBK texted a message "OMG, please help" intended for a friend, but mistakenly sent it to Friar (R142:126-27). This occurred at 4:36 am (R142:126-28). After going home to sleep, MBK spoke to her roommates in the morning, and then contacted police and had a sexual assault examination at Meriter (R142:131-37).

2. Physical Evidence And Vaginal Photos

SANE nurse Maureen Hall observed bruises to the sides of MBK's neck, and redness to her neck and chest (R144:104-06; 111-12). No other injuries were documented to MBK's neck (R144:107). Further, most symptoms associated with strangulation were not present (R145:8-10). Nurse Hall agreed that hickeys can cause neck bruising, and she couldn't rule out whether hickeys caused MBK's neck bruises (R145:13).

Nurse Hall observed bruises near MBK's clavicle and lower back, but no injuries to the lower half of MBK's body (R144:107-08,112-13).

Testimony regarding vaginal injuries differed substantially between the testimony of MBK and Nurse Hall. MBK twice testified regarding "tearing" of her vagina (R142:137,146). Nurse Hall documented only two small vaginal injuries—a linear abrasion to the posterior fourchette, and an abrasion to the labia (R144:122). Hall testified those were both external injuries (R145:22,31). Since consensual sex can result in blunt force trauma, Hall couldn't opine on consent or lack thereof based on injuries (R145:21,31).

No one clarified with Nurse Hall the fact that there were no <u>internal</u> vaginal injuries or tears, contrary to MBK's testimony.

Further, the State published large 8x10 photographs of MBK's vagina to the jury (R144:79-80). The defense objected

Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 11 of 44

under sec. 904.03, arguing the large photographs of genitalia were highly prejudicial, and the injuries could be described through testimony (R144:80). The court, despite acknowledging the photos were "rather graphic," allowed the evidence (R144:79-81). The prosecution first had Nurse Hall describe the injuries using anatomical diagrams, and then displayed 4 large, blown-up photographs of MBK's genitalia (R144:118-24).

3. Challenges To MBK's Credibility

The defense impeached MBK's credibility with (a) text messages showing flirting and a desire to meet up, contrary to MBK's denials of interest in Friar to police; (b) video evidence demonstrating MBK's romantic interest in Friar; (c) memory gaps and inconsistent statements; and (d) MBK's alcohol consumption and diabetes.

a. Text messages

While MBK repeatedly testified she wasn't looking to meet up with Friar (R142:163-65), text messages between 6/2/16-6/3/16 showed them constantly flirting, agreeing to get together at Friar's place before going out Friday night, and then discussing a "rain check" (R142:156-57,161-66). These messages also completely refuted MBK's original statements to police denying any interest in Friar, saying he "creeped [her] out" and she hadn't wanted to give her phone number (R142:152,167). MBK also originally told police she hadn't wanted to meet Friar at the Red Rock (R142:167), despite the texts showing they arranged to meet.

b. Video evidence

Video evidence also contradicted MBK's statements to police denying interest in Friar. MBK originally told police she hadn't wanted Friar to walk her home from the Red Rock, but videos showed them holding hands while walking out together (R142:172). MBK also omitted any reference to standing outside Friar's building for 20 minutes, kissing and flirting (R142:173-74). Surveillance footage also showed MBK putting her hand on MBK's penis/groin area—another detail she hadn't told police (R142:176).

Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 12 of 44

Nor had MBK told police about making out with Friar when they accidentally exited the elevator on the wrong floor (R142:178), though surveillance videos showed them making out in the elevator, including sucking on each other's necks (R143:7). MBK also told police she'd been dragged to Friar's apartment door, but video showed her walking in freely (R142:178).

c. Memory gaps and inconsistent statements

Testimony revealed substantial gaps in MBK's memory, including the following details she didn't recall, or had no independent recollection aside from seeing videos: (1) whether they kissed or held hands while walking home; (2) talking and making out with Friar outside the Equinox for 20 minutes, and grabbing his penis; (3) the substance of the conversation on the porch; (4) what made Friar fall backwards on the porch; (5) what MBK whispered in Friar's ear; (6) getting off the elevator with Friar on the wrong floor and making out with him there; (7) seeing three guys on the couch inside Friar's apartment eating sandwiches; (8) being introduced to Friar's roommates and getting a tour of the apartment; (9) Friar pointing out the view of University Avenue from inside his room, and Friar leaving the room at one point; (10) kissing Friar while standing against his dresser; (11) whether she got naked or touched Friar's penis; and (12) whether she said anything when Friar pushed her onto the bed, or whether the light was on. (R142:114-16,118,173-79,181-82,189-90; R143:6).

MBK was also impeached with inconsistencies between her trial testimony and statements to police regarding the sequences of events when she first entered Friar's room (R142:182-83); claimed memories regarding Friar supposedly inserting his hand into her vagina while strangling her (R142:123, R145:88); whether she waited for Friar to fall asleep or left after waking up to find him atop her (R143:6-7); and whether or not her insulin pump was damaged (R142:187).

d. Alcohol consumption and diabetes

MBK acknowledged consuming at least one alcoholic

Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 13 of 44

drink before going to the Red Rock, and two drinks at Red Rock (R142:170-71). She also provided extensive testimony about the interaction of alcohol and Type 1 diabetes, including the following points: (1) while alcohol consumption can lead to hypoglycemia, that only occurs "several hours after you have your last drink;" (2) decreasing blood sugar only occurs after consuming a "significant" amount of alcohol; (3) memory is only impaired if blood sugar levels get "dangerously low;" (4) she can drink alcohol without any effect on her memory; (5) a blood sugar level of 22 had no effect on her memory or cognition; (6) consuming alcohol doesn't affect her ability to accurately determine her blood sugar levels; and (7) she wasn't experiencing any symptoms of low blood sugar with Friar (R143:9-10,13-15,23; R145:98-99).

MBK didn't check her blood sugars during the time she was with Friar (R143:9). However, she claimed to have checked her blood sugar 5-7 times/day (R143:11). During the first day of trial, MBK testified she "could get" her blood sugar levels from her endocrinologist for her time with Friar (R143:10). Once produced, however, those records provided no test results over a 21-hour period, including MBK's time with Friar (R145:105). MBK had a level of 196 mg/dL at 2:00 pm on 6/4/16, approximately 9½ hours before she began drinking that night, and 224 at 11:00 am on 6/5/16, about 9½ hours after her last drink (R145:104-05).

The defense presented no witnesses regarding the interaction between alcohol and diabetes, and didn't question the State's medical witnesses about diabetes, despite the court's indication that such questioning would be permitted if the nurses had foundation (R142:14-15). Thus MBK's claims regarding the science of alcohol and diabetes were uncontroverted to the jury.

4. Rehabilitation With Surrogate Witnesses

After MBK's testimony, the State attempted to rehabilitate her credibility, which consisted primarily of restating her version of events through three separate witnesses—Allyson Reeves, Paige Hampton, and Nurse Hall.

a. Arguments regarding hearsay

The defense objected to the State asking Reeves, one of MBK's college roommates, what MBK said during a phone call, arguing it was hearsay and cumulative (R143:34-35,37). Since the call occurred 9-10 hours after the incident, the court rejected the State's argument that the statements were excited utterances (R143:36-37, 43). However, the State argued the statements were admissible as prior consistent statements because MBK's credibility had been impeached (R143:39).

Page 14 of 44

The court questioned whether the statements would be "a prior consistent statement offered for the purpose of rebutting an express or implied charge of fabrication?" (R143:45-46). The defense argued MBK always said she was strangled, and never challenged whether she made those statements, so subsequent statements saying the same thing wouldn't be rebutting that (R143:46). The court concluded such testimony from Reeves and Hampton, another roommate, would qualify as prior consistent statements (R143:49,52).

b. Allyson Reeves

Over another hearsay objection, Reeves testified MBK made the following statements:

- MBK had been sexually assaulted
- MBK had gone out with her friends, met up with a guy, he asked her to come to an after-bar
- MBK went up to the guy's apartment, but there was no after-bar
- MBK got pushed into his room, onto the bed
- MBK was strangled or choked
- MBK blacked out, but wasn't sure if it was from biological response or being choked
- MBK regained consciousness, got out of there quickly, and went home

scussed infra this omits

¹ As discussed *infra*, this omits a key requirement of sec. 908.01(4)(a)(2), that the statement be offered to rebut a "recent" fabrication.

(R144:25-26).

c. Paige Hampton

Paige Hampton provided similar testimony:

- MBK had been sexually assaulted
- MBK met Friar at a bar, afterward he led her to his apartment, saying there was an after-party
- When MBK got up to his apartment, there was no afterparty, just two guys
- The previous night, MBK had mentioned meeting Friar
- After going into Friar's apartment, MBK recalled Friar making "very aggressive" movement, grabbing her forcefully, and then she blacked out and doesn't remember what happened
- MBK didn't know why she blacked out, but believed it was because she knew Friar was not stopping
- MBK wasn't wearing underwear when she woke up
- When MBK got up, Friar was laying across her asleep
- Upon waking up, MBK found her underwear and put them back on and then immediately left the room

(R144:33-36).

d. Nurse Hall

The court's ruling admitting MBK's "prior consistent statements" didn't specifically reference statements to Nurse Hall. Regardless, Hall testified that MBK stated she was assaulted the Equinox apartments by an acquaintance named "Nate" (R144:83). The prosecution then asked Hall to read MBK's entire "narrative" statement from her report (R144:85). Without objection, Hall related MBK's entire statement describing how she met Friar that night, where they were and who they were with, what MBK saw upon arriving at Friar's apartment, how he was kissing her "aggressively," the alleged strangulation and sexual assault, and MBK's conversations with friends the next day (R144:85-86).

Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 16 of 44

The prosecutor then asked Nurse Hall about specific questions and answers MBK provided during the SANE checklist (R144:88,91). Hall again testified about MBK description of the strangulation, stating, "She said that she was held down all over, she was strangled, and that her lower back was sore" (R144:90-91). When asked about methods employed, Hall testified MBK stated "she was grabbed, she was strangled on her neck" (R144:91). The prosecutor then asked, "And did she also indicate anything about strangulation?" to which Nurse Hall replied, "Yes. She indicated that she was strangled" (R144:91). The State then asked Nurse Hall a series of questions about how MBK described the strangulation (R144:97-99).

5. "Demeanor" Evidence

The State also presented substantial "demeanor" evidence through MBK and her parents describing her emotions while calling her parents at the hospital. Prior to trial, the defense moved to exclude evidence that MBK "suffered any mental or emotional health problems" because such evidence would be irrelevant and any unduly prejudicial (R26:1-3). The State clarified its intent to present evidence of MBK's "demeanor, emotions, feelings and responses" to family and friends while describing what happened (R27). The defense objected that such testimony was (1) irrelevant character evidence, (2) subject to exclusion pursuant to sec. 904.03 because it was designed to manipulate juror sympathy, and (3) prejudice vastly outweighed probative value (R30). Further, the defense argued that admission of such evidence opened the door to rebuttal "demeanor" evidence, such as evidence that MBK went out partying with her friends a week later, and Friar's demeanor and emotions when discussing the allegations with his family (R140:18-19; R30).

The court concluded the State's proffered testimony regarding MBK's demeanor when speaking to her parents was admissible (R142:6-7,138-140). MBK testified she called her parents "because I was hurt," and described her parents as a "huge support system" (R142:138,141). MBK described her own demeanor while talking to her parents as crying, unable to form words, and breathing heavily (R142:142-43). MBK

Case 2019AP001578 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-22-2019 Page 17 of 44

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