Filed 02-21-2020

Page 1 of 38

RECEIVED 02-21-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

#### Case No. 2019AP1578-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NATHAN J. FRIAR,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, EACH ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSANN M. REYNOLDS AND THE HONORABLE SUSAN M. CRAWFORD, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly admitted certain testimony and photographs, and any erroneously admitted evidence was harmless.

#### A. Legal principles

"The admissibility of evidence rests within the sound discretion of the trial court." *State v. Bellows*, 218 Wis. 2d 614, 627, 582 N.W.2d 53 (Ct. App. 1998). "Whether that discretion was properly exercised depends upon whether the trial court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law and used a demonstrated rational process in reaching its conclusion." *Id.* If it did, this Court will affirm its decision. *Id.* The trial court should set forth its reasoning on the record, but if it did not, this Court will independently review the record to determine if there was a proper exercise of discretion. *State v. Pharr*, 115 Wis. 2d 334, 343, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983).

Relevant evidence is generally admissible except as otherwise provided by constitution or statute. Wis. Stat. § 904.02. Relevant evidence is any evidence that has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence" more or less probable. Wis. Stat. § 904.01. Even if relevant, however, "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay." Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

"Hearsay' is defined by the rules of evidence as 'a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Gehin v. Wis. Group Ins. Bd., 2005 WI 16, ¶ 132, 278 Wis. 2d 111, 692 N.W.2d 572 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3)). Although hearsay evidence is generally inadmissible, the rules of evidence label a number of statements non-hearsay and contain a number of exceptions to the rule against hearsay. See Wis. Stat. § 908.02, 908.03, and 908.045.

A prior consistent statement of a testifying witness who is subject to cross examination is not hearsay if the prior statement is "[c]onsistent with the declarant's testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive." Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4)(a)2. The rationale underlying the exemption of such statements is that if a witness relayed an earlier version of the events that was consistent with her courtroom testimony, the existence of the prior consistent statement rebuts the suggestion that the courtroom testimony is not trustworthy. *Peters*, 166 Wis. 2d at 177. To fit under that rationale, the prior consistent statement generally must predate the alleged recent fabrication, improper influence, or motive. *See State v. Mainiero*, 189 Wis. 2d 80, 104, 525 N.W.2d 304 (Ct. App. 1994). In some cases, however, courts "need not decide whether prior consistent statements that postdate an alleged motive to falsify fall outside the exception of sec. 908.01(4)(a), Stats., and are thus excludible." *State v. Gershon*, 114 Wis. 2d 8, 11, 337 N.W.2d 460 (Ct. App. 1983). This is because testimony related only to the credibility of a witness is not "offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted" and therefore is not hearsay. *Id.* (quoting Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3)).

Even if a circuit court erroneously admits hearsay evidence, however, the defendant is not automatically entitled to reversal. "Wisconsin's harmless error rule is codified in Wis. Stat. § 805.18 and is made applicable to criminal proceedings by [Wis. Stat.] § 972.11(1)." State v. Sherman, 2008 WI App 57, ¶ 8, 310 Wis. 2d 248, 750 N.W.2d 500. "[I]n order to conclude that an error 'did not contribute to the verdict' within the meaning of *Chapman*.<sup>[2]</sup> a court must be able to conclude 'beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 48 n.14, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (citation omitted). "The standard for evaluating error is the harmless same whether the error is constitutional, statutory, or otherwise." Sherman, 310 Wis. 2d 248, § 8. "The defendant has the initial burden of proving an error occurred, after which the State must prove the error was harmless." Id.

#### B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted photographs of M.B.K.'s injuries.

Friar challenges the circuit court's decision to admit the forensic examination photographs under Wis. Stat. § 904.03. (R. 144:80.) In other words, the question is whether their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967).

Filed 02-21-2020

Page 20 of 38

relevance was substantially outweighed by their inflammatory nature. When a circuit court answers this question, it exercises its discretion. *See Jones v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 41, 54, 233 N.W.2d 430 (1975).

To prove the charge of second-degree sexual assault, the State had to establish three elements: that Friar had sexual contact with M.B.K., that M.B.K. did not consent to the sexual contact, and that Friar used or threatened to use force to have the sexual contact. (R. 37:4.) See also Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a). The photographs in question showed wounds to M.B.K.'s genitalia and thus offered proof of the sexual contact and, arguably, proof that Friar used force while assaulting M.B.K. The photographs were therefore relevant to the State's case. Friar argues that this is not so because the State was able to establish M.B.K.'s injuries through PA Hall's testimony and a diagram of M.B.K.'s body, and because "[t]he existence of minor abrasions to [M.B.K.]'s external genitalia was not contested." (Friar's Br. 26.) But "[e]vidence is always admissible to prove an element of the charged crime even if the defendant does not dispute it at trial." State v. *Lindvig*, 205 Wis. 2d 100, 108, 555 N.W.2d 197 (Ct. App. 1996) (alteration in original) (citation omitted).

On the other hand, Friar has offered little proof that the photographs were unduly prejudicial. He relies chiefly on the court's comment that the photographs were "rather graphic." (Friar's Br. 27.) It is, unfortunately, unsurprising that evidence in a sexual assault case might be graphic. That will often be the case when violent crimes are at issue. But the question is not whether the evidence is graphic, it is whether the evidence is unduly prejudicial. *State v. Veach*, 255 Wis. 2d 390, 426, 648 N.W.2d 447 (2002). "[G]raphic, disturbing and extremely prejudicial" evidence is still admissible unless the defense can demonstrate that the evidence is unfairly prejudicial. *Id.* at 427–28. *See also State v. DeRango*, 229 Wis. 2d 1, 24, 599 N.W.2d 27 (Ct. App. 1999) (When "the

nature of the crimes was highly sensitive to begin with," the danger of unfair prejudice is dramatically reduced because the charged crime itself will "provoke[] a strong reaction from the jury.").

The photographs were taken during the course of a standard sexual assault examination for the purpose of documenting M.B.K.'s injuries. (R. 144:63.) They were published to the jury to show those injuries. (R. 144:80–81.) Nothing suggested that the photographs would "tend to create sympathy or indignation or direct the jury's attention to improper considerations." *Ellsworth v. Schelbrock*, 229 Wis. 2d 542, 559, 600 N.W.2d 247 (Ct. App. 1999). Friar's argument that they did is based on nothing more than pure speculation.

As the State explained when seeking to introduce the photographs, "viewing the injury is different than . . . having the witness describe those injuries. And if the injuries from her neck are appropriate for the jury to view and the other various parts of her body, then the injuries to her vagina, although graphic, are relevant." (R. 144:80.) The court apparently adopted this reasoning—made in response to Friar's objection to the photographs under Wis. Stat. § 904.03—and thus exercised its discretion in admitting the photographs. (R. 144:81.) This Court should leave that ruling undisturbed.

C. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted testimony about M.B.K.'s demeanor after the assault.

Likewise, the question of whether the admission of testimony about M.B.K.'s demeanor after the assault was proper is also a question of whether that evidence was unnecessarily cumulative or unduly prejudicial under Wis. Stat. § 904.03. Once again, this is a discretionary decision for

Filed 02-21-2020

Page 22 of 38

the circuit court to make. *See Jones*, 70 Wis. 2d at 54. And once again, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted the evidence.

The circuit court's decision with respect to the evidence of M.B.K.'s demeanor following the assault relied heavily on this Court's unpublished decision in *Lattimore*, 2014 WL 4450098. (R. 142:7.) The court noted that the *Lattimore* decision, although not binding, provided "significant guidance on this issue." (R. 142:7.) The court therefore concluded that it would allow "some limited testimony" about M.B.K.'s demeanor following the assault. (R. 142:7.)

The facts in *Lattimore* were very similar to the facts here. Lattimore appealed his conviction for second-degree sexual assault with the use of force. Lattimore, 2014 WL 4450098, ¶ 1. He argued that the circuit court improperly admitted evidence related to the victim's demeanor in the months following the assault. Id. This Court affirmed, quoting the circuit court's reasoning at length: "Since there were no direct witnesses to the issue of consent, other than Lattimore and the victim, any extrinsic evidence on this issue is relevant and highly probative." Id. ¶ 27. The court continued, "[e]vidence of a significant change in the victim's demeanor from 'high spirited' and 'fun loving' ... to 'scared' and 'untrustworthy [sic] of others' . . . —would tend to support the victim's claim that she was raped and would undermine the defense theory that she merely regretted her decision to have consensual intercourse." Id.

Lattimore might not be binding precedent, but the circuit court's invocation of Lattimore nevertheless evinces the court's exercise of discretion. The court considered the facts of this case and how the law applied to them—the analysis in Lattimore offered "significant guidance" in that regard. (R. 142:7.) The court then arrived at a decision on the admissibility of the evidence. That is a proper exercise of

discretion. *See, e.g.*, *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 780–81, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998).

Friar contends that *Lattimore* "constituted a completely improper extension of the *Jensen*<sup>[3]</sup> principle." (Friar's Br. 28.) He asserts that sanctioning the circuit court's reliance on *Lattimore* "would open the door to a massive amount of postincident conduct under the heading 'demeanor."" (Friar's Br. 28.) This misses the point. As discussed above, the circuit court did not treat *Lattimore* as binding its decision. Rather, it looked to *Lattimore* for guidance, and in doing so, properly exercised its discretion. Any problems with the *Lattimore* decision are irrelevant here.<sup>4</sup>

# D. The circuit court properly admitted M.B.K.'s prior consistent statements.

The question of whether the admission of M.B.K.'s statements to Hampton, Reeves, and PA Hall was proper is a question of whether those statements were hearsay under Wis. Stat. § 908.01. As discussed, statements are not hearsay when they are offered to rebut an assertion that the declarant's testimony is a recent fabrication or the result of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Jensen, 147 Wis. 2d 240, 432 N.W.2d 913 (1988). Jensen concerned whether expert testimony about the behavior of child victims of sexual assault offered at trial constituted either improper vouching that the assault actually occurred or improper vouching that the victim was telling the truth. *Id.* at 249. By contrast, the demeanor witnesses in this case—and in *Lattimore* testified only to the victim's demeanor, not to the demeanor of other sexual assault victims. It was left to the jury to determine the significance of the victim's demeanor, if any.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The State disagrees that *Lattimore* was wrongly decided but, as stated, the merits of that decision are unimportant to the disposition of this case. The evidentiary decision here was discretionary, and the settled law with respect to judicial discretion controls in this case.

improper motive or influence. Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4)(a)2. Moreover, statements are not hearsay when they are not offered for "the truth of the matter asserted." Wis. Stat. § 908.01(3).

The circuit court concluded during trial that M.B.K.'s prior consistent statements were admissible in response to the "express or implied charge that she . . . is fabricating or making up this story." (R. 143:49.) The postconviction court agreed: "The trial court stated the law correctly, considered the relevant facts, and articulated a reasonable basis for its decision. The court acted within its reasonable discretion in the testimony regarding M.B.K.'s admitting prior statements."<sup>5</sup> (R. 137:7.) Friar contends that this decision was a legal error because he did not allege that M.B.K.'s fabrication was recent. (Friar's Br. 23.)

Friar argues that the trial court misstated the legal standard and that the postconviction court's conclusion that the trial court used the correct legal standard was therefore wrong. (Friar's Br. 23.) As support, he quotes language from the transcript where the trial court referred to "a prior consistent statement offered for the purpose of rebutting an express or implied charge of fabrication," claiming that the court "omitted the 'recency' requirement." (Friar's Br. 23 (quoting R. 143:45–46).) But one paragraph before Friar's quoted language in the transcript, the court explicitly mentioned the recency requirement when it stated the legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Friar's argument, as does the postconviction court's ruling, suggests he is analyzing this issue under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Whether a particular statement is hearsay is a question of law, however, which this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Peters*, 166 Wis. 2d 168, 175, 479 N.W.2d 198 (Ct. App. 1991). To the extent the postconviction court used the wrong standard of review, this Court can still affirm on independent grounds, i.e., that M.B.K.'s statements admitted through Hampton, Reeves, and PA Hall were not hearsay under Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4)(a)2.

standard more fully, citing Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4) and saying that a statement is not hearsay when it is a prior consistent statement by a testifying declarant subject to crossexamination "and the statement is (2) [referring to Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4)(a)2.] consistent with declarant's testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive." (R. 143:45.) It is clear that the trial court was referring to the correct statute and had the correct legal standard in mind when it overruled Friar's objection.

More to the point, the circuit court's analysis was correct. As the court pointed out in denying Friar's postconviction motion, "[a] charge of recent fabrication is implied . . . where the cross-examining counsel 'repeatedly asked' the declarant about prior statements, suggested untruthful testimony, and 'called [the declarant's] credibility into question." (R. 137:6–7 (alteration in original) (quoting State v. Miller, 231 Wis. 2d 447, 471, 605 N.W.2d 567 (Ct. App. 1999)<sup>6</sup>).) Friar's cross-examination of M.B.K. carried the strong implication that she was embellishing her testimony and manufacturing facts to fill gaps in her memory despite earlier statements to police and to PA Hall that she could not remember certain things. By implying that M.B.K.'s trial testimony was fabricated or embellished for trial, Friar opened the door to M.B.K.'s rehabilitation through prior consistent statements under Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4)(a)2. See

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In *Miller*, this Court affirmed a circuit court decision to admit testimony that might have otherwise been considered hearsay after the defense vigorously cross-examined a witness in a manner that implied his testimony was false. *State v. Miller*, 231 Wis. 2d 447, 467–69, 605 N.W.2d 567 (Ct. App. 1999). This Court said that "persistent questioning implied that [the witness] testified untruthfully" and "called [his] credibility into question." *Id.* at 471. "Consequently," this Court held, "the State was entitled to introduce [the witness's] prior consistent statements to rebut the implied charge that [his] testimony was fabricated." *Id.* at 471–72.

*Miller*, 231 Wis. 2d at 471. The trial court's decision was correct. This Court should affirm.

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